The effect of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* infection on female mate choice in the poison dart frog *Dendrobates auratus*

MSc Research Project 2

Student: Henk van der Meulen Student number: s3642453 Degree program: MSc Evolutionary Biology University: University of Groningen Faculty of science & engineering – Biology Behavioural & Physiological Ecology (BPE) / EGDB Nijenborgh 7 9747AG Groningen The Netherlands Supervisors: Hannah L. Dugdale, Prof & Joana I. Sabino Pinto, PhD **Period:** Jan 2nd to Dec 31st 2023 ECTS: 30 Image front page: Artistic impression of Dendrobates auratus at Biomuseo, Panama City, photographed by Henk van der Meulen

Abstract

Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis (Bd) is a fungal pathogen that has currently infected over half of the studied species and is causing severe amphibian declines worldwide. As geographic boundaries preventing disease spread are disappearing due to increasing human mobility, it is crucial to better understand how species can evolve resistance against newly emerging diseases. To investigate this in the particularly urgent case of Bd, this study aimed to identify the effect of Bd infection on female mate choice, for which the poison dart frog *Dendrobates auratus* was utilized as a study system. Female mate preference was analyzed for specific males and in relation to the level of resistance to Bd the males possess to identify if a preference for resistance exists. To do so, 10 male and 8 female D. auratus, collected from Cerro Ancón in Panama City (Panama), were used in a mate choice experiment performed at the Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute, Panama. Females were exposed to pairs of males to choose from and the frogs were subjected to three different treatments: control (no infected frogs), male infection (all males infected), female infection (all females infected). 160 trials were performed for each treatment. Results show that female preference for specific males is altered by the presence of Bd infection, but to a minor extent. This is found in both the male and female infection treatment. This potentially provides support for the terminal investment hypothesis, and additionally suggests that males may also alter their reproductive effort based on female health. Additionally, this study finds evidence that sexual selection may function as a mechanism in the evolution of resistance against Bd in D. auratus, as females show significant preference for Bd resistance, but only when the males are infected and females are offered a resistant and non-resistant male to choose from. This provides evidence that selection for resistance can only occur when potential partners are infected with the disease, because only then will informative traits representing an individual's level of resistance likely become visible. The fact that this preference is not as strongly observed when all male pairs are included suggests that females are incapable of detecting minute differences in the degree of resistance, but rather identify the presence or absence of resistance. Furthermore, a general trend is observed for females to select for resistance, regardless of whether Bd is present, which calls for further research into the presence of selection for general pathogen resistance. Based on the outcomes of this research, there is an urgency to further study the presence of evolutionary mechanisms to acquire pathogen resistance across amphibian taxa and populations to direct conservational efforts towards the most vulnerable species.

Key words: *Bd*, amphibian, chytrid, chytridiomycosis, sexual selection, mate choice, pathogen resistance, emerging infectious diseases, Panama, Central America, terminal investment hypothesis.

Table of contents

Introduction	4
Methods	6
Animal collection and selection	6
Captive animal care	8
Mucosome and <i>Bd</i> resistance analysis	9
Bd infection and curing procedure	9
Bd qPCR infection analysis	9
Mate choice trials	10
Mate choice data analysis	12
Results	14
Resistance against <i>Bd</i>	14
Effect of <i>Bd</i> infection on mate preference	14
Preference for resistance against <i>Bd</i>	16
Discussion	18
Acknowledgements	21
References	21
Support information	28

Introduction

The past decades have seen a multitude of infectious diseases emerging (Daszak et al., 2008; IOM, 2011). Global spread of pathogens is promoted by increasing human mobility, which has led to the eradication of previous geographic boundaries (Wilson, 1995). Moreover, changing environmental conditions, because of human interference, create new opportunities for pathogens to evolve (Fisher et al., 2012). Examples of such diseases are tuberculosis (Daszak et al., 2000), and more recently Covid-19 (Muralidar et al., 2020). However, newly emerging infectious diseases (EIDs) are not only seen in humans. Such diseases in wildlife are also common and increasing (Daszak et al., 2000; Fisher et al., 2012; Tompkins et al., 2015; Walker et al., 2008), mediated through human activities, such as global trade in animals and plants (Fisher & Garner, 2007; Mazzoni et al., 2003; Rush et al., 2021; Swift et al., 2007).

Potentially one of the most prominent emerging infectious diseases is chytridiomycosis, caused by the fungus *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* (*Bd*) (Luedtke et al., 2023; Olsen & Ronnenberg, 2014; Scheele et al., 2019; Skerratt et al., 2007). *Bd* inhabits the keratinized skin cells of amphibians. When asexually reproducing in the host cells, *Bd* eventually causes apoptosis of the host cells to facilitate spread of its zoospores to other cells and hosts (Scott Fites et al., 2013). Studies suggest that *Bd* prevents a host immune response by suppressing lymphocyte activity, thereby rendering its host defenseless (Ellison et al., 2014a; Scott Fites et al., 2013). The cause of death by *Bd* infections is related to the dysregulation of skin functions. The skin surface is of particular importance to amphibians because it is strongly involved in respiration and regulation of water and electrolytes (Australian Government, 2013). Electrolyte levels are strongly decreased in infected individuals, which commonly leads to severe dehydration and death through cardiac arrest (Voyles et al., 2009).

Since 1980, the overall decline of amphibians – encompassing a total of 8,689 species – has increased to as much as 50% of the species being threatened and over 70 species being driven to extinction (Ellison et al., 2014a; Luedtke et al., 2023; Scheele et al., 2019). Therefore, amphibians are currently the most severely threatened class of vertebrates (Fisher et al., 2009). Amphibians are negatively impacted by many factors, such as habitat loss, climate change, and disease (Luedtke et al., 2023). Specifically, Bd is proposed to be one of the main drivers of the rapid global decline witnessed in amphibians (Walker et al., 2008). Discovered only in 1998, this pathogen has now been reported to be involved in the decline of at least 501 species of amphibians (Scheele et al., 2019). However, this number may be significantly higher as 1,062 out of 1,966 tested species (54%) were positive for Bd (Castro Monzon et al., 2020). The most impacted regions include Australia, and Central and South America (Berger et al., 1998; Lips et al., 2008). Tropical highlands are one of the most strongly affected areas as they house some of the greatest amphibian diversity (Ellison et al., 2014a) and provide an environment optimal for Bd growth (Becker & Zamudio, 2011). Contrastingly, regions such as West Africa so far seem to be much less susceptible to Bd outbreaks (Castro Monzon et al., 2020; Penner et al., 2013). The origin of Bd has been strongly debated and studies have pointed at various areas of the world (Bataille et al., 2013; Goka et al., 2009; Rodriguez et al., 2014; Talley et al., 2015; Weldon et al., 2004), but genetic analyses have recently suggested Southeast Asia as the location where Bd originated (O'Hanlon et al., 2018).

Several factors have been identified that facilitate the spread of this fungal pathogen. Through human contact, *Bd* has been able to spread intercontinentally and cross climatically uninhabitable areas (Scheele et al., 2019). In multiple instances, *Bd* has been detected on amphibians in the international trade and the fungus has been found in zoo animals, implying transportation of infected animals by humans (Fisher & Garner, 2007; Mazzoni et al., 2003; Saare et al., 2021; Wombwell et al., 2016). Moreover, animals, such as birds and crayfish transmit *Bd* to new locations as spores can survive in water and moist substrates for a long time (Johnson & Speare, 2005; McMahon et al., 2013; Nordheim et al., 2021). *Bd* zoospores can even be transmitted through fog (Prado et al., 2023), and from host to host by mosquitoes (Reinhold et al., 2023). Climate change additionally allows *Bd* to populate areas that previously did not allow for *Bd* growth (Bachtlin, 2020; Rohr et al., 2008). Evolutionarily naïve amphibian populations are more susceptible to severe forms of chytridiomycosis

than populations that have previously been in contact with the fungus (Bosch et al., 2021; Skerratt et al., 2007). Even when populations are tolerant or resistant to *Bd* in their natural environment, they may be strongly affected by different lineages of *Bd* to which they are still naïve (Becker et al., 2017). In addition, hybridization can result in increased virulence in *Bd*, which yet again leads to increased mortality in amphibians (Greenspan et al., 2018).

In an evolutionary arms race between host and parasite, organisms continuously need to adapt against each other just to maintain their current relationship. This is described by the Red Queen Hypothesis (Clay & Kover, 1996; Ladle, 1992). Such relationships also occur between fungal pathogens and their hosts (Clay & Kover, 1996). However, when pathogens are abruptly introduced into the environment, as is currently happening through human activities, host organisms do not have the necessary tools to evolve resistance against those pathogens (Daszak et al., 2000). Additionally, pathogen resistance traits are costly to maintain and often have a negative impact on other traits, such as reproductive success (Kawecki, 2020; Lazzaro & Little, 2009; Sheldon & Verhulst, 1996), which results in reduced resistance in the absence of the pathogen (Viney et al., 2005). However, when a pathogen does emerge, evolution of resistance can be mediated through various mechanisms of natural selection, such as survival of the fittest (Jiao & Fefferman, 2021) and sexual selection (Joye & Kawecki, 2019), when sufficient genetic variation is present. Several studies have found evidence for the occurrence of immunogenetic adaptation to Bd at the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) (Bataille et al., 2015; Ellison et al., 2014b; Rosenblum et al., 2012; Savage & Zamudio, 2016; Savage & Zamudio, 2011). These studies have focused on survival of the fittest as being the main evolutionary driver. Therefore, the need arises to increase efforts in studying sexual selection as well to acquire a more complete view of the evolution of pathogen resistance, especially in a world where fungal pathogens have the potential to be rapidly spread to new areas and quickly adapt.

To approach this question in the specific case of Bd, poison dart frogs are a highly suitable group of study organisms, as they exhibit very elaborate mating behavior (Summers, 1992; Wells & Bard, 1988) and are strongly affected by chytridiomycosis (Nichols et al., 2001; Pessier et al., 1999). Dendrobates auratus (Figure 1) is one such species of which reproductive behavior have been recorded in detail (Wells & Bard, 1988). This species is found in Central America in wet to seasonally wet forests (Eaton, 1941). It inhabits the lower levels of the forest, often found in-between leaf litter and underneath larger objects, such as fallen tree trunks. In *D. auratus*, parental care is performed by males. Because paternal investment is larger than maternal investment, females compete with each other for mates (Wells & Bard, 1988). Despite the partial reversal of sexual roles, males call to attract females and females exhibit strong mate choice (Dunn, 1941; Wells & Bard, 1988). Using D. auratus, this study aims to investigate how the emergence of Bd affects female mate choice in an evolutionarily naïve population (i.e., not historically infected with Bd). More specifically, this study will analyze whether a relationship is observed between female mate preference and male resistance against Bd. It is expected that females will alter their mate preferences in the presence of *Bd* infection, as reproductive efforts of individuals could change when they are infected with a pathogen (terminal investment hypothesis: (Williams, 1966). in the absence of Bd, it is likely that female preference is not biased towards more resistant males, but when Bd is present mate choice is expected to shift towards males with a higher Bd resistance level, potentially increasing offspring survivability. This is based on the idea that traits representing an individual's resistance level will only become informative to a choosing individual when potential partners are infected with the pathogen (Joye & Kawecki, 2019; Kelleher et al., 2021; Roy & Kirchner, 2000).



Figure 1. Adult Dendrobates auratus, Cerro Áncon morph. Credit: Henk van der Meulen.

Methods

Animal collection and selection

Twenty-six wild adult *Dendrobates auratus* were collected from Cerro Ancón reserve (8.960N, -79.551W) in Panama City, Panama, between January 4th and 6th, 2023. Frogs were handled with nitril gloves at all times. While in the field, the frogs were kept in 24oz (15x23 cm) Nasco Whirl-Pak bags (Whirl-Pak®, Fort Atkinson, WI). As much air as possible was retained in the bags and the frogs were transported to the laboratory (Smithsonian Tropical Research Institute (STRI), CTPA Ancon) within 1.5 hours at most.

To determine sex, upon collection, individuals had their dorsum photographed with a Canon EOS RP full frame mirrorless camera with a Canon EF 17-40mm F4.0 L USM lens and the following measurements were taken in ImageJ (Schneider et al., 2012): snout vent length (SVL), abdomen width, width of the toe pads of toes II, III, and IV of the right front legs, and base width of the right thumb, toe I (Figure 2A). These features provide an accurate way of determining sex in *D. auratus* (Blanchette, 2017). Each measurement was taken in triplicate by two independent scorers and the mean was used in the analysis. In the end, the width of toe pad III relative to the SVL was found to most clearly distinguish between two sexes, where males have the relatively wider toe pads.

A skin swab was taken from all frogs to check whether or not they were already infected with *Bd* in the wild. This was done in duplicate, by rubbing two rayon swabs (MW113; Medical Wire & Equipment, Corsham, UK) simultaneously back and forth over the belly of the frog ten times (Figure 2B; Sabino-Pinto et al., 2017). From all 26 individuals collected, eight females and 10 males were selected at random and kept in the laboratory for the purpose of this research. In addition, one extra male and one extra female were kept in case health issues would arise in any of the specimens throughout the study, but they were never used. The remaining six individuals were released at the same location where they were initially collected.

The collection of wild *D. auratus* was approved by the "Ministerio de Ambiente, Dirección de Áreas Protegidas y Biodiversidad, Departamento de Biodiversidad, Sección de Acceso a Recursos Genéticos y Biológicos (SARGEB)". The experiments were approved by the "STRI Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC, code: SI-22044)" following the animal experimentation guidelines of the United States of America. The frogs that were kept for the experiment were donated to the STRI Punta Culebra Nature Center after the study was finished, where they are part of a frog exposition (SI 1) to, among others, raise awareness for the amphibian chytrid fungus.



Figure 2. A: Dorsal image of *Dendrobates auratus*, used to take measurements in imageJ. Snout-vent-length (SVL), abdomen width, and toes (I – IV) are specified.
B: Skin swab of *Dendrobates auratus* taken in duplicate.

Captive animal care

Each frog was housed separately in an enclosure of 20x30x20cm (DxWxH; Figure 3). Each container was lined with moist paper towel and the lids of the enclosures were sealed off with cling film to prevent dehydration. Two film roll tubes with water inside were put in each cage to simulate egg laying sites. In addition, several large dry leaves and a stick were provided for shelter and environmental enrichment. The leaves were collected from the area around the laboratory and autoclaved before use to prevent potential introduction of *Bd* from the wild. The enclosures were sprayed with water every other day. At those times, the frogs were also fed approximately 15-20 flightless fruit flies dusted with calcium powder. In addition, each frog received two termites on a weekly basis for sufficient protein intake. During working hours (08:30 – 18:00), the enclosures were exposed to artificial fluorescent lights. Apart from that, the windows in the laboratory provided natural light to maintain the natural circadian rhythm of the frogs. Temperature control was mediated through the air conditioning of the building, which kept the temperature at approximately $25 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Daily health checks were performed to detect any abnormal feeding behavior, significant weight loss or any other irregular activity. After two weeks into the experiment, M5 was found to have one non-functional hindleg, but was otherwise healthy. Mainly F2, F6, and M6 have shown periods of low body weight, but never reached a point of concern or showed observable behavioral changes. Under normal conditions, the enclosures were cleaned once every once a week. This differed when frogs were going through a Bd curing or infection period (see "Bd infection and curing procedure"). When cleaning, paper towel and dry leaves and sticks were discarded and autoclaved. Then, the enclosure and film roll tubes were first dried and subsequently sprayed with 70% ethanol. The surfaces were then dried again and the bottom of the enclosure was lined with fresh paper towel, which was then moistened. Some water was added to the film roll tubes and freshly autoclaved dry leaves and a stick were finally put in the enclosure.



Figure 3. Laboratory setup of the enclosures.

Mucosome and Bd resistance analysis

Before the start of the mate choice experiment, the mucosome of each frog was collected. To do so, the frogs were bathed in water for one hour in Nasco Whirl-Pak bags. The volume of water used was standardized based on the surface area of each individual specifically (Woodhams et al., 2014). To calculate the surface area, the following formula was used: $cm^2 = 9.9 \times weight(g)^{0.56}$. 0.25mL of water per $1cm^2$ surface area was used. The water was then collected into 15mL screwcap tubes and stored at -20°C. Further analysis of the samples was performed at the University of Massachusetts. The water samples were lyophilized and then rehydrated. 50μ L of 10^6 *Bd* zoospores/mL were then exposed to 50μ L of the rehydrated mucosomes in triplicate. Zoospore viability was then measured using a SYBR 14 fluorescence assay according to the protocol by Woodhams et al. (2014). *Bd* growth relative to the control (*i.e.*, no exposure to mucosome) was then calculated. Decreased growth indicates inhibition of *Bd* growth by the *D. auratus* mucosome, whereas increased growth suggests enhancement of *Bd* growth. The data were visualized in R version 4.3.2 (R Core Team, 2023) using the package ggplot2 (Wickham, 2016). No statistical analyses were performed on this dataset, because it is not the main objective of this study and it is merely to show that variation in *Bd* resistance exists within this subset of individuals.

Bd infection and curing procedure

To infect *D. auratus* with *Bd*, individuals were bathed in Nasco Whirl-Pak bags for 60 minutes in 10 mL of water with *Bd* strain JEL 423 at a concentration of 6×10^5 zoospores per mL. This strain of *Bd* is part of the Global Panzootic Lineage (GPL) and was originally collected from *Hylomantis lemur* in Panama in 2004 (Direnzo et al., 2014; Lips et al., 2006). The frogs were then returned to their enclosures and the zoospore solution was released into the enclosures to maximize *Bd* exposure. The infection period of the frogs was considered to start on the day after the infection treatment took place. During the infection period, enclosures of infected individuals were not cleaned. The frogs were cured after day 5 of infection, because *D. auratus* shows minor symptoms within this period, but can be strongly affected by *Bd* after that (Nichols et al., 2001). During the period of infection, skin swabs to monitor infection status were taken on day 1, 3, and 5 (Figure 2B). To cure *D. auratus* from *Bd*, individuals were treated for 10 days with Itraconazole. Each day, the frogs were bathed in Nasco Whirl-Pak bags for 30 minutes in 30mL of 0.01% Itraconazole solution. During the curing treatment, the enclosures were cleaned on a daily basis. After finalization of the treatment, skin swabs were taken to confirm that the frogs were no longer infected with *Bd* (Figure 2B).

Bd qPCR infection analysis

The swabs that were taken during the experiments were stored at -20°C until further processing. At each sampling point, swabs were taken in duplicate and simultaneously. One of the duplicates was analyzed by STRI at the CTPA Acon laboratory. The other duplicate was processed at the University of Groningen following established protocols (Mantzana-Oikonomaki et al., 2021). To do so, the swabs were incubated for one hour at 37°C using a shaking incubator at speed 600 in 180µL of enzymatic lysis buffer (20mM Tris-HCl, 2.5mM EDTA, 1.2% Triton-X-100, with 20mg/mL lysozyme added briefly before use). The samples were then further using the DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Cat No. 69504) or the NucleoSpin Tissue Kit (Bioké, Cat No. 740952). Depending on the kit, the samples were further incubated for 30 minutes at 70°C and speed 600 with 25uL Proteinase K, and 200µL buffer AL or 200µL buffer B3, respectively. Beyond this step, the protocols supplied by the kits were followed. After DNA extraction, a qPCR was performed with a total reaction volume of 15µL (2X iQ[™] Supermix (BioRad, Cat No. 1708860), 0.9mM (i.e., 13.5nmol) each primer F and R, 0.15mM (i.e., 2.25nmol) probe) with 5µL of DNA sample. Primers and probe are listed in Table 1. Each sample was run in duplicate in a Biorad thermocycler (Kriger et al., 2006). The efficiency across all qPCR runs was 85-100%. The threshold for a positive result was set at the detection of a single molecule. If the results from the duplicates were inconsistent (i.e., one positive and one negative), the sample was repeated in duplicate. A duplex negative control was run in each plate, together with five gBlock standards (Standish et al., 2018; 0⁰, 10^1 , 10^2 , 10^3 , and 10^4 ITS copies) in duplicate. *Bd* qPCR results were included in the supplementary information (SI 2).

Name	Sequence
F primer (ITS1-3 Chytr)	5'-CCTTGATATAATACAGTGTGCCATATGTC-3'
R primer (5.8S Chytr)	5'-AGCCAAGAGATCCGTTGTCAAA-3'
Minor groove binder probe	5'-6FAM CGAGTCGAACAAAAT MGBNFQ-3'

Table 1. Primers and probe used in the Bd qPCR infection analysis (Boyle et al., 2004).

Mate choice trials

In the setup (Figure 4), a box of the same type as of the frog enclosures was used on the side to function as the female container in the mate choice trials. The sides and back of the box were covered with duct tape to allow for as little visual distraction and stress from the environment as possible. Unfortunately, acoustic isolation from researchers was not possible in the available facilities. The front - originally the top – of the box was covered with cling film and holes were pinched in it so that potential male pheromones could enter the female enclosure. In front of the female container, two smaller enclosures of approximately 15x15x15cm held the males. Male enclosures were closed with cling film in the same way, again with pinched holes. All enclosures were lined with moist paper towel at the bottom. When introducing a female into a trial enclosure, this was done in a film roll tube from their own enclosure to provide a familiar environment. The film roll tube was placed and left in the middle back of the enclosure. A visual barrier was placed between the males to prevent them from interacting. Two trials were run next to each other simultaneously (Fig. 4), so a visual barrier was additionally used between these two trials. Above each of the two trial setups, a Raspberry Pi Rev. 13 camera was placed to record the trials. Using a custom Python script (https://github.com/marioasmira/Panama_cameras) run on a Raspberry Pi 4 the cameras were programmed to wait for 30 minutes at the start of a trial before recording. The time of acclimatization used in other amphibian mate choice experiments is not consistent, varying from 20 minutes (Maan & Cummings, 2008) to over one hour (Peignier et al., 2022). To fall within this range, 30 minutes should provide time for individuals to acclimatize and display more natural behavior during the mate choice trial. The cameras recorded for 30 minutes after the acclimatization period. The frogs were not interfered with during this period of one hour. On a day where mate choice trials were performed, eight rounds of two trials, thus 16 trials were performed. Males were clustered in two groups (M1-M5 and M6-M10). Within this groups, every possible combination of males was offered to the females (e.g., M1 and M6 were never in the same trial) (Table 2.). Two pairs of males - one in each of the two setups run in parallel - were used each day. Each female was exposed to both male pairs, thus performing two subsequent trials on each trial day. The mate choice trials consisted of three different treatments: 1) a control with no infected frogs (*i.e.*, three uninfected frogs per trial); 2) a treatment where only males are infected (*i.e.*, two infected males and one uninfected female per trial); and 3) a treatment where only females are infected (i.e., two uninfected males and one infected female per trial). In each treatment, two groups of five males were used and every possible combination of males within these groups was used. Every female was exposed to every male pair combination in each round of trials. This amounts to 160 trials for each round with an overall total of 480 trials done.

The number of trials required was identified in an *a priori* power analysis using G-Power version 3.1 (Faul et al., 2007). A low effect size of 0.2 was assumed and a standard alpha and beta error of 0.05 was used. For the test family, the F test was chosen, with the parameter "ANOVA: Fixed Effects, omnibus, one way" and three sample groups. This results in a required number of trials per treatment of 130. Therefore, 160 trials should then provide sufficient power to find significant differences between the groups.



Figure 4. Setup of the mate choice trials. Two setups ran simultaneously (#1 and #2). Each female enclosure (yellow) has two male enclosures (red) on display.

	Male g	roup 1	Male group 2				
1	M1	M2	M6	M7			
2	M1	M3	M6	M8			
3	M1	M4	M6	M9			
4	M1	M5	M6	M10			
5	M2	M3	M7	M8			
6	M2	M4	M7	M9			
7	M2	M5	M7	M10			
8	M3	M4	M8	M9			
9	M3	M5	M8	M10			
10	M4	M5	M9	M10			

Table 2. All combinations of males offered to each of the females during the mate choice trials.

The female's mate choice was scored based on the recorded videos. The cameras produced a top view as shown in Figure 5. The female enclosure was divided into multiple areas. The first 6cm away from the males was considered as the zone of interaction with the males (1LX and 2RX). This was determined based on a study on *Oophaga pumilio* by Maan & Cummings (2008), but adjusted to the larger body size of *D. auratus*. Within this area, some "escaping" behavior was witnessed during which the females would try to leave their container in the top corners of the enclosure (10-15% of the time across all treatments: SI 3). This specific location was separately scored as 1LE or 2RE to be able to analyze the results with and without this behavior included. The areas behind the interaction ("choice") zones, were considered "no choice" locations where no interaction between females and males took place (0LX and 0RX). The location of the female was scored every 20 seconds of the half hour recording by two independent scorers. The similarity between the two scorers was analyzed for every trial. When similarity fell below 80%, a trial was re-scored by both scorers until every trial was scored with at least 80% similarity between the two records.



Figure 5. A frame from a mate choice trial recording. The lines represent the different areas in which a female could be located and each area has a code. OLX and ORX indicate "no choice" areas with no interaction between females and males. 1LX and 2RX represent "choice" areas with interaction between males and females. Within these areas, the subareas 1LE and 2RE were recorded as escape attempts.

Mate choice data analysis

Several preliminary analyses were done to determine the most suitable way to interpret the data, for which the models are listed in Table 4. For each analysis, multiple models were built to see which best fits the data, by selecting the model with the lowest AIC-value. Specifically, these preliminary analyses were performed both with and without including the escaping behavior as choice in order to identify the nature of this behavior and to see whether it should be included as choice in further analyses. Models A and B were used to analyze the effect of including escaping behavior and as a consequence, models C and D were built excluding escaping behavior (Table 4.). Firstly, the proportion of time a female spends in front of the enclosure with the males (i.e., choice-zone) was analyzed in model A and C (Table 4.; SI 3). Secondly, the proportion of time a female spends with the preferred male was analyzed in model B and D (Table 4. SI 4). Both datasets were visualized in R version 4.3.2 using the package ggplot2. Generalized linear mixed models were built in R using the package glmmTMB version 1.1.8 (Brooks et al., 2017) with proportion of time – spent choosing (Table 4. A+C), and spent with the preferred male (Table 4. B+D) – as the response variable and treatment as the predictor variable. Female ID was incorporated as a random effect. A logistic beta regression was used as distributional assumption for the data. Then, a Tukey post-hoc test was performed using the package multcomp version 1.4 (Hothorn et al., 2008) to infer Bonferroni-adjusted p-values for the difference between treatments as well as the inclusion of escaping behavior as choice. Even though including the escaping behavior as representing choice significantly increased the proportion of time a female spends choosing (Table 4. A; SI 3), this difference disappeared when identifying the strength of preference for one of the males (Table 4. B; SI 4). This indicates that the escaping behavior is randomly distributed over both sides of the enclosure in comparison to the time the females spend in zones 1LX and 2RX. Therefore, it was decided to exclude the escaping behavior in further analyses of female mate preference as there is no evidence it represents choice for the male on that side. No significant difference was found between the treatments in either of the two datasets (i.e., the time spent choosing and the strength of preference for one of the two males: Table 4. C-D).

Consequently, the change in preference for specific males across the treatments was analyzed. The relative preference of a female for each male in a trial was calculated by subtracting the preference for that male in the control from the preference in the comparing trial, either the male or female infection treatment. A generalized mixed model with a logistic beta regression as distributional assumption was built in R using the package glmmTMB (Table 4. E). Relative preference was set as the response variable, and specific male ID and treatment was set as a combined predictor variable. Female ID was included as a random effect. In the next model, trial ID is included as a random effect as well, because two datapoints are included for each trial. Even though that is the case in this model as well, these datapoints are never combined in a comparison, for which reason trial ID was not included as a random effect in this model. In a Tukey post-hoc test performed using the package multcomp, each male*treatment was compared to 0, and Bonferroni-adjusted p-values were inferred from this. The data was visualized in R using the package ggplot2.

Lastly, the resistance of males against Bd was related to female preference. The preference of a female was calculated by dividing the time spent with a specific male by the total time spent with both males in that trial. The resistance was taken as a proportional value as well to account for differences in resistance between males, by dividing the resistance of a specific male by the resistance of both males in that trial combined. This way, values between 0.0 and 0.5 indicate males that are less resistant than their competitor and values between 0.5 and 1.0 indicate males that are more resistant. The further a datapoint is located away from 0.5, the stronger the difference in resistance is between the competing males, which would be expected to result in a stronger preference of females for one of the males. A generalized mixed model with a logistic beta regression as distributional assumption was built in R using the package glmmTMB (Table 4. F). Relative preference was set as the response variable, and relative resistance and treatment were set as predictor variables. Female ID was included as a random effect and so was the trial ID, to account for double datapoints for each trial (*i.e.*, one datapoint for each of the males of the same mate choice trial). As it was not possible to run a post-hoc Tukey test on a model with multiple fixed effects, the model was run multiple times with different datasets, each containing only one treatment. An Anova was run on each model to infer significance using the package car version 3.1 (Fox & Weisberg, 2019). The data was visualized in R using the package ggplot2.

Results

Resistance against Bd

The mucosome analysis provided insight into the degree of resistance of each frog used in the mate choice experiment (Figure 6). Even though several individuals show some degree of resistance against *Bd*, in most cases the growth of the fungus even seems to be enhanced on the skin of *D. auratus*. Males M4, M5, M8, and M9 show inhibition of *Bd* with a decrease in growth of up to approximately 55% in M5. In the females, only F7 showed a slight level of growth inhibition in contrast to the other females, who showed an increase in *Bd* growth as compared to normal growth conditions.



Resistance against Bd

Figure 6. Resistance of the frogs against *Bd* based on the mucosome of the frogs used in the mate choice experiment. The individuals are divided between females (F1-F9) and the two groups of males (M1-M5 and M6-M10) ordered from the most to the least resistant individual. A *Bd* growth rate of 1.0 indicates no effect from the mucosome on the normal growth of *Bd*. A value above 1.0 indicate that the mucosome promotes the growth of *Bd* in comparison to normal growth, whereas a value below 1.0 indicates a certain degree of resistance against *Bd* up to 0.0, where *Bd* growth is completely inhibited.

Effect of Bd infection on mate preference

The change in preference of females for specific males was analyzed based on the data from the mate choice experiments (Table 4. E; Figure 7). In the first group of males (M1-M5), M2 seems to be slightly more preferred in both infection trials as compared to the control and so does M5 in the female infection treatment only (Figure 7). A slight decrease in preference for M1 is observed when the males were infected and M3 when the females were infected (Figure 7). However, no significant differences were found between either of the infection treatments in comparison to the control (Table 4. E), indicating that the male preference remained fairly stable across the different treatments. On the other hand, a stronger change in preference is observed for the second group of males (M6-M10) (Figure 7). M6 and M7 were significantly less preferred in comparison to the control during the male and female infection treatment, respectively (Table 4. E: p = 0.0021 & p = 0.0016). Also in the male infection treatment, a decreased preference was shown for M7 to some extent, but this was not significant (Figure 7; Table 4. E). In addition, M10 seems to receive a relatively high preference in both infection treatments, but this difference was also not significant (Figure 7; Table 4. E).

Table 4. Table containing the statistical models used in this study and the results they yielded. Several abbreviations are used: control treatment (C), female infection treatment (FI), male infection treatment (MI), model including escape (E), and model excluding escape (NE). "prop.Choice" refers to the proportion of time a female spends choosing in comparison to the time she spent in the no-choice areas of the enclosure. "choice.Strength" indicates the time a female spends with the preferred male relative to the other male in the competition. "prop.Preference" refers to the proportion of time a female spends with either of the males relative to the other male in the competition. Models C-F no longer include escaping behavior as choice, based on the results of models A and B. For models A-E results from the post-hoc Tukey test are shown. For model F, it was not possible to run a post-hoc test. Instead, the results from an Anova are shown for each treatment separately. "Extremes" refers to the dataset that only includes trials in which a resistant and non-resistant male were competing. In model F, trial is included as a random effect, as two datapoints – one for each male – are included for each trial. Therefore the number of included trials is also listed for this model.

#	Model	AIC	Predictor	Levels	Comp	arison	Std. Error	z-value	p-value	
Α	prop.Choice ~	-374.2	Trt. * Model	3	C - E vs. NE		0.124	-2.865	0.0042**	
	Treatment * Model +				FI - E ۱	vs. NE	0.117	-2.882	0.0040**	
	(1)Temaleid)				MI - E	vs. NE	0.131	-2.470	0.0135**	
В	B choice.Strength ~		Trt. * Model	3	C - E v	rs. NE	0.111	0.017	0.9860	
Treatment * Model +					FI - E ۱	vs. NE	0.108 -0.646		0.5180	
	(1)femaleID)				MI - E	vs. NE	0.096	0.096 0.675		
С	prop.Choice ~	-360.2	Treatment	3	FI - C		0.090	1.408	0.4770	
	Treatment + (1 femaleID)				MI - C		0.090	1.781	0.2250	
					MI - F	I	0.090	0.367	1.000	
D	choice.Strength ~	-487.0	Treatment	3	FI - C		0.109	1.066	0.8590	
	Treatment +				MI - C		0.106	0.198	1.000	
	(1) remaieiD)				MI - F	I	0.106	-0.897	1.000	
Ε	Prop.Preference ~	-9.8	Trt. * maleID	20	FI*M1 == 0		0.241	-0.120	1.000	
	Treatment * maleID +				MI*M	1 == 0	0.331	-1.922	0.5460	
					FI*M2	2 == 0	0.341	0.009	1.000	
					MI*M	2 == 0	0.323	0.357	1.000	
					FI*M3	3 == 0	0.349	-1.281	1.000	
					MI*M	3 == 0	0.341	0.134	1.000	
					FI*M4	1 == 0	0.341 0.451		1.000	
					MI*M	4 == 0	0.328	1.338	1.000	
					FI*M5 == 0		0.345	1.199	1.000	
					MI*M	15 == 0	0.328	0.524	1.000	
					FI*M6	5 == 0	0.324	-1.300	1.000	
					MI*M	6 == 0	0.320	-3.703	0.0021**	
					FI*M7	7 == 0	0.329	-3.773	0.0016**	
					MI*M7 == 0		0.325	-2.384	0.1712	
					FI*M8 == 0		0.339	-1.421	1.000	
					MI*M	8 == 0	0.335	-1.119	1.000	
					FI*M9 == 0		0.325	-2.208	0.2724	
					MI*M9 == 0		0.320	-0.573	1.000	
					FI*M10 == 0 MI*M10 == 0		0.331 -0.673		0.1241	
							0.227	2.500	1.000	
#	Model	Predict	tor Dataset	N	trials	AIC	Std. Erro	or Chisq	p-value	
F	Prop.Preferece ~	Rel. Bd	C	1	37	-7.900	0.893	1.197	0.2740	
	(1 femaleID) + (1 Trial)	resistar	FI	1	37	-26.400	0.955 0.62		0.4305	
	(=1.5		MI	1	50	-20.200	0.867	3.198	0.0737.	
			C - Extrem	nes 8	2	-0.200	0.935	1.814	0.1780	
			FI - Extrer	nes 8	3	-5.800	0.989	1.346	0.2459	
			MI - Extre	mes 9	3	-13.700	0.918	6.162	0.0131*	



Figure 7. The preference that females showed for each male in both infection trials relative to the equivalent trial in the control. Yellow boxes represent the preference for the males in trials when the females were infected with *Bd*. Red boxes indicate trials in which the males were infected. The males are divided into two groups (M1-M5 and M6-M10) as they were during the trials. In both groups, the males have been ordered by their *Bd* resistance level, from most to least resistant to *Bd* (Figure 6).

** boxes that are significantly different from 0.0 (i.e. the preference in the control trials) with p < 0.01.

Preference for resistance against Bd

Finally, the relationship between the resistance of males against *Bd* and the mate preference of females was analyzed (Figure 8; Table 4. F). No significant effect was found of male resistance on female preference, even though there seems to be a tendency for females to choose a more resistant male across all treatments (Figure 8A; Table 4. F). This tendency is the weakest during the female infection treatment. When only trials were considered that have a male with no resistance competing against a male that does have a degree of resistance (Figure 8B), the female preference for *Bd* resistance was found significant when the males are infected with *Bd* (Table 4. F: p = 0.0131).



Figure 8. Preference for males based on their resistance, proportional to the other male in each trial. The graph provides visualization of two different sets of data: all trials (A), and only the instances where a resistant and non-resistant male were competing against each other in a trial (B). A proportional preference of 0.5 indicates that the male was not preferred over the other male. A value below 0.5 means that the male was less preferred than the other male, in contrast to a value above 0.5 indicates both males in the trial are equally resistant against *Bd*. A value below that suggests decreased resistance in comparison to the other male and a higher value means that the male is more resistant than its compatitor. The fitted lines include an upper and lower confidence estimation of 2SE.

Discussion

D. auratus is highly susceptible to *Bd* and suffers from fatal chytridiomycosis (Nichols et al., 2001). In this study, I show that some individuals possess a degree of resistance, but most do not or even enhance the growth of *Bd*, which coincides with the vulnerability of this species for the pathogen. Studies have suggested that possession of resistance is costly (Kawecki, 2020; Lazzaro & Little, 2009; Sheldon & Verhulst, 1996), therefore it is not surprising that no evolutionary driver of resistance against *Bd* previously existed in this population naïve to the pathogen. It was not possible to investigate this further within the given timeframe of this study, but the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) is established as a key element of disease resistance (Bernatchez & Landry, 2003). Based on the heterozygote advantage hypothesis, studies have suggested that heterozygous individuals have increased resistance through overdominance, maintaining high allelic diversity at MHC loci (Hughes & Nei, 1992; Penn et al., 2002; Stear et al., 2005). Even though evidence for this is not consistent (Ilmonen et al., 2007), heterozygosity could purely coincidentally lead to a degree of resistance against *Bd* as well.

After analyzing individual *Bd* resistance levels, the female mate choice was further looked into. Preliminary analyses showed that there is a weak tendency for females to spend more time with the preferred male when they are infected themselves (SI 4). On the other hand, much less difference was witnessed between the control and male infection treatment (SI 4). The pattern specifically observed in the female infection treatment could be driven by an increased urge to reproduce when a female becomes sick and may be nearing death, as described by the terminal investment hypothesis (Williams, 1966), which has been observed in amphibians before (Brannelly et al., 2016). On the other hand, literature shows that *Bd* infection might reduce the host's activity and movement as early as one to four days after infection (Nichols et al., 2001). An infected female might therefore stay in the same place for a longer time period and thus, purely by reduced stamina, spend more time in the choice area of a specific male. However, the amount of time that a female spends escaping is similar in the control and female infection treatment (SI 3), suggesting that female activity is not strongly reduced. To fully exclude this possibility, it would be interesting to track the mobility of the females and analyze whether it may be reduced when they are infected with *Bd*. This could provide insight into the effect of Bd on *D. auratus* as well as the effect of disease on female mating behavior.

In regard to female preference for specific males, M6 and M7 were preferred less during the male and female infection treatment, respectively (Figure 7). Additionally, a degree of increased preference is shown for M10 in both infection treatments compared to the control, but this difference was not significant. This means that the limited change that is observed occurs only in males that do not possess any resistance and that the preference for individuals with a degree of resistance remains relatively stable (Figure 6).

In the male infection treatment, it is possible that males experiencing increased sickness (*i.e.*, non-resistant males) will start to invest more in reproductive success, in line with the terminal investment hypothesis (Williams, 1966). This could explain why larger preferential change is observed among non-resistant individuals. However, preference for non-resistant males is not consistently increased or reduced, suggesting that *Bd* infection does not have the same effect on each individual. Many traits play a role in mate choice in poison frogs, such as coloration (Summers et al., 1999) and territory (Peignier et al., 2022). *Bd* is known to cause discoloration of the skin (Pessier et al., 1999), but could similarly have an impact on other traits affecting female mate preference, may it be positive or negative, that are not directly linked to individual resistance or health.

On the other hand, this could not explain why a change in preference arises during the female infection treatment, because the males were not affected by *Bd*. Courtship in dendrobatid frogs is known to be an interaction between males and females and not necessarily one-sided. Because there is a large paternal investment in these species, competition not only occurs between males, but also between females (Wells & Bard, 1988). Males might also change their interest in females when the

females are infected. In this way, it could be that M7 shows a stronger decrease in interest for infected females than other males do, thereby decreasing its relative reproductive effort towards the females. Conversely, M10 might have a much weaker decrease in interest, increasing its reproductive effort respective to other males.

Even though minor changes were observed, overall the preference of females did not change in the presence of *Bd* infection. The changes that are observed occur in the second group of males (M6-M10) and not in the first. If *Bd* resistance level would be the main driver of sexual selection in this species, one would expect the changes in mate preference to be more drastic in a group where the differences in resistance against *Bd* between males are more extreme. However, a larger difference in *Bd* resistance level is witnessed in the M1-M5 in comparison to M6-M10.

In the first model of preference for *Bd* resistance (Figure 8A), no significant preference for males with higher resistance against *Bd* is found. In this model, all datapoints from the mate choice trials are included. This means combinations of males exist for which both of them are either non-resistant or resistant to some degree. It could be that females are unable to detect the degree of resistance a male has, but rather observe the presence or absence of resistance.

This thought gave rise to the second model (Figure 8B), which solely includes data from male pairs in which one of the males has a degree of resistance and one does not. The trend increased in strength in this model, especially for the male infection treatment, where females show a significant preference for *Bd* resistance. This could be a direct consequence of reduced health in non-resistant males in comparison to males with a degree of resistance (Kelleher et al., 2021). Furthermore, traits representing resistance may only become visible to the female when potential partners are infected with the disease themselves (Joye & Kawecki, 2019; Kelleher et al., 2021; Roy & Kirchner, 2000), which would explain why the females show stronger preference when the males are infected. The fact that this trend is not as strongly observed when all trials are included does suggests that females are not fully capable of identifying the degree of resistance a male possesses and therefore overlook differences within resistant and non-resistant competitors. However, perhaps the visibility of such traits increases with the severity of symptoms. Then, it may become easier for females to detect resistance level as individuals start demonstrating stronger clinical signs.

No significant preference of females for males with higher resistance against *Bd* is observed in the first model (Figure 8A). It is known that pheromones are one of the key traits used in sexual selection across a wide range of animal taxa, including vertebrates (Buchinger & Li, 2023). In the current setup, it may have been difficult for pheromones to pass through both cling film barriers between the male and the female. Especially because the male enclosures were completely open on all other sides, pheromones might have had a much higher chance of escaping through those sides than through the side with two layers of cling film, albeit with small holes. This could have made it more difficult for females to detect a preferred male, might have prevented them from identifying resistance, or distinguishing between the two males because of pheromones mixing. Additionally, literature shows that chemical cues in amphibians are not always released into the environment, but sometimes directly transferred through physical contact (Thomas et al., 1993; Willaert et al., 2013), which would not be possible in this setup.

Regardless, a minor positive trend is still observed for females to choose more resistant males across all treatments, including the control, suggesting that sexual selection might also occur on general resistance. This trend could explain why no directional change is observed in the preference for specific males in relation to their resistance against *Bd* (Figure 7), because there may be an innate preference for resistance that is not kickstarted by the introduction of a pathogen, in this case *Bd*. Several traits contribute to an individual's resistance. A more well-studied component of pathogen resistance is the MHC gene complex (Bernatchez & Landry, 2003). Even though heterozygosity could increase the overall strength of resistance, a homozygous individual could randomly possess an allele that yields strong resistance against a specific pathogen, such as *Bd*, that a heterozygous individual may not. Alternatively, multiple heterozygotes may be equally preferred, whereas only part of them may possess an allele that yields not

necessarily mean that these individuals are all indeed resistant to *Bd*. Over generations, selection for heterozygosity can still lead to the acquisition of resistance against specific pathogens, but on a single generation time-scale, it would weaken the strength of selection for that. Such a mechanisms would in the long run be beneficial, because it prevents the absence of evolutionary defenses against emerging pathogens that were never encountered in the past and could otherwise lead to extinction (Hulse et al., 2023).

Evidence suggests that directional selection for MHC alleles that specifically convey *Bd* resistance can arise in populations where *Bd* exists (Savage & Zamudio, 2016). MHC was not specifically analyzed in this study, and it is important to mention that many other factors are likely involved in an individual's resistance as well. For example, skin microbial community is of importance to resistance against *Bd* (Nava-González et al., 2021; Walke & Belden, 2016). Regardless of the mechanism behind it, results show that females may indeed be able to select for *Bd* resistance. However, this is only observed when potential partners are infected and not when only the females are infected themselves. Even though a female may recognize that she is ill, she might not receive the required signals from the males to identify resistance when they are healthy (Joye & Kawecki, 2019; Kelleher et al., 2021; Roy & Kirchner, 2000). Thus, in a natural population consisting of infected as well as uninfected individuals, it is difficult to say if sexual selection will lead to an increased pathogen resistance level over generations. Nevertheless, studies suggest that amphibian populations can recover from and acquire resistance against *Bd* over multiple years (Voyles et al., 2018) although on the other hand, there are many instances where extinction is not avoided (Carvalho et al., 2017; Skerratt et al., 2007).

It is important to further investigate with the data from this study if sexual selection occurs for specific conformations of the MHC, such as heterozygosity, apart from resistance against Bd as a consequence of infection. It is possible that multiple MHC conformations are selected for, but do not all result in resistance against Bd, and vice versa. As research presents contrasting results as to whether species and populations can develop resistance and avoid extinction, this study should be repeated across different species and populations to acquire a more complete view of the occurrence of sexual selection on pathogen resistance – and MHC – in amphibians. This way, conservation efforts can be directed towards the more vulnerable species lacking such mechanisms to defend themselves. Similarly, it would be highly informative to study genetic adaptation and mate selection in a natural population, where the presence of infected as well as uninfected individuals may interfere with selection for pathogen resistance. One way of studying this in the laboratory instead of the field could be by repeating the mate choice experiment from this study, this time having an infected and uninfected male competing to identify changes in mate choice in regard to resistance, against Bd as well as in a general sense.

To conclude, this study has shown that the introduction of *Bd* into a naïve population of *D. auratus* does cause difference in female mate choice, but to a minor extent. On the other hand, females are shown to select for *Bd* resistance when choosing between a – to some degree – resistant and non-resistant individual. This species may therefore be equipped to accelerate evolution of resistance to specific pathogens through sexual selection. However, results suggest that potential partners need to be infected in order for females to select for resistance. Therefore, in a natural population where infected and uninfected individuals exist, it is uncertain whether sexual selection can result in the evolution of pathogen resistance. Nevertheless, results imply that selection may also occur on general resistance, regardless of pathogen infection, and further research the MHC may provide insight into this. Based on the outcomes of this research, there is an urgency to further study the presence of evolutionary mechanisms to acquire pathogen resistance across amphibian taxa and populations to direct conservational efforts towards species that, in the long run, do not possess the capability to survive *Bd* on their own.

Acknowledgements

An especially big acknowledgement goes out to Joana Sabino-Pinto (University of Groningen), Mario Santos-Mira (University of Groningen) and Henrieke te Brake (Hanze University of Applied Sciences) for performing this study together with me with great enjoyment. I would also like to thank Joana Sabino-Pinto and Hannah Dugdale for supervising me in this master research project. Additionally, I want to express my appreciation to Martijn Schenkel (University of Groningen) for providing support in the statistical analyses, and to Douglass Woodhams and Nina McDonnell (University of Massachusetts) for performing the *Bd* resistance analysis on the frog mucosomes. Furthermore, I would like to thank Roberto Ibañez (STRI) for his extensive support during the performance of the study in Panama, and Estefany Illueca (STRI) for helping us with the laboratory work in Panama and for analyzing the duplex skin swabs for *Bd* infection. Last but not least, I would like to thank my friends and family for their support during my travels to Panama as well as in the analysis and writing process.

References

- 1. Bachtlin, A. (2020). Climate change and biodiversity: Amphibians, chytrid fungus, and the thermal mismatch hypothesis. *D.U.Quark*, *4*(2), 53-57.
- Bataille, A., Cashins, S. D., Grogan, L., Skerratt, L. F., Hunter, D., McFadden, M., Scheele, B., Brannelly, L. A., Macris, A., Harlow, P. S., Bell, S., Berger, L., & Waldman, B. (2015). Susceptibility of amphibians to chytridiomycosis is associated with MHC class II conformation. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society. B, Biological Sciences, 282(1805), 20143127. 10.1098/rspb.2014.3127
- Bataille, A., Fong, J. J., Cha, M., Wogan, G. O. U., Baek, H. J., Lee, H., Min, M., & Waldman, B. (2013). Genetic evidence for a high diversity and wide distribution of endemic strains of the pathogenic chytrid fungus Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis in wild Asian amphibians. *Molecular Ecology*, 22(16), 4196-4209. 10.1111/mec.12385
- 4. Becker, C. G., & Zamudio, K. R. (2011). Tropical amphibian populations experience higher disease risk in natural habitats. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences PNAS*, 108(24), 9893-9898. 10.1073/pnas.1014497108
- Becker, C. G., Greenspan, S. E., Tracy, K. E., Dash, J. A., Lambertini, C., Jenkinson, T. S., Leite, D. S., Toledo, L. F., Longcore, J. E., James, T. Y., & Zamudio, K. R. (2017). Variation in phenotype and virulence among enzootic and panzootic amphibian chytrid lineages. *Fungal Ecology, 26*, 45-50. 10.1016/j.funeco.2016.11.007
- Berger, L., Speare, R., Daszak, P., Green, D. E., Cunningham, A. A., Goggin, C. L., Slocombe, R., Ragan, M. A., Hyati, A. D., McDonald, K. R., Hines, H. B., Lips, K. R., Marantelli, G., & Parkes, H. (1998). Chytridiomycosis causes amphibian mortality associated with population declines in the rain forests of Australia and Central America. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences - PNAS*, 95(15), 9031-9036. 10.1073/pnas.95.15.9031
- Bernatchez, L., & Landry, C. (2003). MHC studies in nonmodel vertebrates: What have we learned about natural selection in 15 years? *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 16(3), 363-377. 10.1046/j.1420-9101.2003.00531.x
- Blanchette, A. (2017). The antipredator behaviors of cryptic and aposematic anurans and variability in alkaloids, conspicuousness and pattern within Dendrobates auratus (Dendrobatidae). John Carroll University, Master Theses, 25, 1-78. 10.1017/S0266467417000037
- Bosch, J., Thumsová, B., López-Rojo, N., Pérez, J., Alonso, A., Fisher, M. C., & Boyero, L. (2021). Microplastics increase susceptibility of amphibian larvae to the chytrid fungus Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 22438. 10.1038/s41598-021-01973-1
- 10. Boyle, D. G., Boyle, D. B., Olsen, V., Morgan, J. A. T., & Hyatt, A. D. (2004). Rapid quantitative detection of chytridiomycosis (Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis) in amphibian samples using real-time Taqman PCR assay. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 60*, 141-148. 10.3354/dao060141

- Brannelly, L. A., Webb, R., Skerratt, L. F., & Berger, L. (2016). Amphibians with infectious disease increase their reproductive effort: Evidence for the terminal investment hypothesis. *Open Biology*, 6(6), 150251. 10.1098/rsob.150251
- Brooks, M. E., Kristensen, K., van Benthem, K. J., Magnusson, A., Berg, C. W., Nielsen, A., Skaug, H. J., Maechler, M., & Bolker, B. M. (2017). glmmTMB balances speed and flexibility among packages for zero-inflated generalized linear mixed modeling. *The R Journal*, 9(2), 378-400. 10.32614/RJ-2017-066
- 13. Buchinger, T. J., & Li, W. (2023). Chemical communication and its role in sexual selection across Animalia. *Communications Biology*, 6(1), 1178. 10.1038/s42003-023-05572-w
- 14. Carvalho, T., Becker, C. G., & Toledo, L. F. (2017). Historical amphibian declines and extinctions in Brazil linked to chytridiomycosis. *Proceedings of the Royal Society. B, Biological Sciences, 284*(1848), 20162254. 10.1098/rspb.2016.2254
- 15. Castro Monzon, F., Rödel, M., & Jeschke, J. M. (2020). Tracking *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* infection across the globe. *EcoHealth*, *17*(3), 270-279. 10.1007/s10393-020-01504-w
- 16. Clay, K., & Kover, P. X. (1996). The Red Queen hypothesis and plant/pathogen interactions. *Annual Review of Phytopathology, 34*(1), 29-50. 10.1146/annurev.phyto.34.1.29
- Daszak, P., Cunningham, A. A., & Hyatt, A. D. (2000). Emerging infectious diseases of wildlife -Threats to biodiversity and human health. *Science*, 287(5452), 443-449. 10.1126/science.287.5452.443
- Daszak, P., Jones, K. E., Patel, N. G., Levy, M. A., Storeygard, A., Balk, D., & Gittleman, J. L. (2008). Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. *Nature*, 451(7181), 990-993. 10.1038/nature06536
- 19. Direnzo, G. V., Langhammer, P. F., Zamudio, K. R., & Lips, K. R. (2014). Fungal infection intensity and zoospore output of *Atelopus zeteki*, a potential acute chytrid supershedder. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(3), e93356. 10.1371/journal.pone.0093356
- 20. Dunn, E. R. (1941). Notes on Dendrobates auratus. Copeia, 1941(2), 88-93. 10.2307/1437437
- 21. Eaton, T. H. (1941). Notes on the life history of *Dendrobates auratus*. *Copeia*, 1941(2), 93-95. 10.2307/1437438
- Ellison, A. R., Savage, A. E., DiRenzo, G. V., Langhammer, P., Lips, K. R., & Zamudio, K. R. (2014a). Fighting a losing battle: Vigorous immune response countered by pathogen suppression of host defenses in the chytridiomycosis-susceptible frog *Atelopus zeteki*. *G3 : Genes - Genomes -Genetics*, 4(7), 1275-1289. 10.1534/g3.114.010744
- Ellison, A. R., Tunstall, T., DiRenzo, G. V., Hughey, M. C., Rebollar, E. A., Belden, L. K., Harris, R. N., Ibáñez, R., Lips, K. R., & Zamudio, K. R. (2014b). More than skin deep: Functional genomic basis for resistance to amphibian chytridiomycosis. *Genome Biology and Evolution*, 7(1), 286-298. 10.1093/gbe/evu285
- 24. Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. -., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexibel statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, *39*(2), 175-191. 10.3758/BF03193146
- 25. Fisher, M. C., & Garner, T. W. J. (2007). The relationship between the emergence of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*, the international trade in amphibians and introduced amphibian species. *Fungal Biology Reviews*, *21*(1), 2-9. 10.1016/j.fbr.2007.02.002
- Fisher, M. C., Garner, T. W. J., & Walker, S. F. (2009). Global emergence of *Batrachochytrium* dendrobatidis and amphibian chytridiomycosis in space, time, and host. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, 63(1), 291-310. 10.1146/annurev.micro.091208.073435
- Fisher, M. C., Henk, D. A., Briggs, C. J., Brownstein, J. S., Madoff, L. C., McCraw, S. L., & Gurr, S. J. (2012). Emerging fungal threats to animal, plant and ecosystem health. *Nature (London),* 484(7393), 186-194. 10.1038/nature10947
- 28. Fox, J., & Weisberg, S. (2019). An R companion to applied regression (Third ed.). Sage.
- 29. Goka, K., Yokoyama, J., Une, Y., Kuroki, T., Suzuki, K., Nakahara, M., Kobayashi, A., Inaba, S., Mizutani, T., & Hyatt, A. D. (2009). Amphibian chytridiomycosis in Japan: Distribution,

haplotypes and possible route of entry into Japan. *Molecular Ecology, 18*(23), 4757-4774. 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2009.04384.x

- Greenspan, S. E., Lambertini, C., Carvalho, T., James, T. Y., Toledo, L. F., Haddad, C. F. B., & Becker, C. G. (2018). Hybrids of amphibian chytrid show high virulence in native hosts. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 9600-9610. 10.1038/s41598-018-27828-w
- 31. Hothorn, T., Bretz, F., & Westfall, P. (2008). Simultaneous inference in general parametric models. *Biometrical Journal*, *50*(3), 346-363. 10.1002/bimj.200810425
- 32. Hughes, A. L., & Nei, M. (1992). Maintenance of MHC polymorphism. *Nature*, *355*(3659), 402-403. 10.1038/355402b0
- Hulse, S. V., Antonovics, J., Hood, M. E., & Bruns, E. L. (2023). Specific resistance prevents the evolution of general resistance and facilitates disease emergence. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 36(5), 753-763. 10.1111/jeb.14170
- Ilmonen, P., Penn, D. J., Damjanovich, K., Morrison, L., Ghotbi, L., & Potts, W. K. (2007). Major histocompatibility complex heterozygosity reduces fitness in experimentally infected mice. *Genetics (Austin)*, 176(4), 2501-2508. 10.1534/genetics.107.074815
- 35. IOM. (2011). Fungal diseases: An emerging threat to human, animal and plant health. The National Academies Press.
- 36. Jiao, J., & Fefferman, N. (2021). The dynamics of evolutionary rescue from a novel pathogen threat in a host metapopulation. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 10932. 10.1038/s41598-021-90407-z
- Johnson, M. L., & Speare, R. (2005). Possible modes of dissemination of the amphibian chytrid Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis in the environment. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 65(3), 181-186. 10.3354/dao065181
- Joye, P., & Kawecki, T. J. (2019). Sexual selection favours good or bad genes for pathogen resistance depending on males' pathogen exposure. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B, Biological Sciences, 286*(1902), 20190226. 10.1098/rspb.2019.0226
- 39. Kawecki, T. J. (2020). Sexual selection reveals a cost of pathogen resistance undetected in lifehistory assays. *Evolution*, 74(2), 338-348. 10.1111/evo.13895
- Kelleher, S. R., Scheele, B. C., Silla, A. J., Keogh, J. S., Hunter, D. A., Endler, J. A., & Byrne, P. G. (2021). Disease influences male advertisement and mating outcomes in a critically endangered amphibian. *Animal Behaviour*, *173*, 145-157. 10.1016/j.anbehav.2021.01.007
- 41. Kriger, K. M., Hines, H. B., Hyatt, A. D., Boyle, D. G., & Hero, J. (2006). Techniques for detecting chytridiomycosis in wild frogs: Comparing histology with real-time Taqman PCR. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *71*, 141-148. 10.3354/dao071141
- 42. Ladle, R. (1992). Parasites and sex: Catching the Red Queen. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 405-408. 10.1016/0169-5347(92)90021-3
- 43. Lazzaro, B. P., & Little, T. J. (2009). Immunity in a variable world. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 364*(1513), 15-26. 10.1098/rstb.2008.0141
- Lips, K. R., Brem, F., Brenes, R., Reeve, J. D., Alford, R. A., Voyles, J., Carey, C., Livo, L., Pessier, A. P., & Collins, J. P. (2006). Emerging infectious disease and the loss of biodiversity in a neotropical amphibian community. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences PNAS*, 103(9), 3165-3170. 10.1073/pnas.0506889103
- 45. Lips, K. R., Diffendorfer, J., Mendelson, J. R., & Sears, M. W. (2008). Riding the wave: Reconciling the roles of disease and climate change in amphibian declines. *PLoS Biology, 6*(3), e72. 10.1371/journal.pbio.0060072
- Luedtke, J. A., Chanson, J., Hobin, L., Maciel, A. O., Catenazzi, A., Borzée, A., Hamidy, A., Fong G., A., de Silva, A., Fouquet, A., Angulo, A., Kidov, A. A., Muñoz Saravia, A., Diesmos, A. C., Tominaga, A., Shrestha, B., Gratwicke, B., Martínez Rivera, C. C., Vásquez Almazán, C. R., . . . Stuart, S. N. (2023). Ongoing declines for the world's amphibians in the face of emerging threats. *Nature (London), 622*(7982), 308-314. 10.1038/s41586-023-06578-4
- 47. Maan, M. E., & Cummings, M. E. (2008). Female preferences for aposomatic signal components in a polymorphic poison frog. *Evolution*, *62*(9), 2334-2345. 10.1111/j.1558-5646.2008.00454.x

- 48. Mantzana-Oikonomaki, V., Maan, M., & Sabino-Pinto, J. (2021). Wildlife pathogen detection: Evaluation of alternative DNA extraction protocols. *Biology Methods & Protocols, 6*(1), 1-7. 10.1093/biomethods/bpab018
- 49. Mazzoni, R., Cunningham, A. A., Daszak, P., Apolo, A., Perdomo, E., & Speranza, G. (2003). Emerging pathogen of wild amphibians in frogs (*Rana catesbeiana*) farmed for international trade. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *9*(8), 995-998.
- McMahon, T. A., Brannelly, L. A., Chatfield, M. W. H., Johnson, P. T. J., Joseph, M. B., McKenzie, V. J., Richards-Zawacki, C. L., Venesky, M. D., & Rohr, J. R. (2013). Chytrid fungus Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis has nonamphibian hosts and releases chemicals that cause pathology in the absence of infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences PNAS*, 110(1), 210-215. 10.1073/pnas.1200592110
- 51. Muralidar, S., Ambi, S. V., Sekaran, S., & Krishnan, U. M. (2020). The emergence of COVID-19 as a global pandemic: Understanding the epidemiology, immune response and potential therapeutic targets of SARS-CoV-2. *Biochimie, 179*, 85-100. 10.1016/j.biochi.2020.09.018
- Nava-González, B., Suazo-Ortuño, I., López, P. B., Maldonado-López, Y., Lopez-Toledo, L., Raggi, L., Parra-Olea, G., Alvarado-Díaz, J., & Gómez-Gil, B. (2021). Inhibition of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* Infection by skin bacterial communities in wild amphibian populations. *Microbial Ecology*, 82(3), 666-676. 10.1007/s00248-021-01706-x
- 53. Nichols, D. K., Lamirande, E. W., Pessier, A. P., & Longcore, J. E. (2001). Experimental transmission of cutaneous chytridiomycosis in dendrobatid frogs. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, *37*(1), 1-11. 10.7589/0090-3558-37.1.1
- 54. Nordheim, C. L., Grim, J. M., & McMahon, T. A. (2021). *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis (Bd)* exposure damages gill tissue and inhibits crayfish respiration. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 146, 67-73. 10.3354/dao03623
- O'Hanlon, S. J., Rieux, A., Farrer, R. A., Rosa, G. M., Waldman, B., Bataille, A., Kosch, T. A., Murray, K. A., Brankovics, B., Fumagalli, M., Martin, M. D., Wales, N., Alvarado-Rybak, M., Bates, K. A., Berger, L., Böll, S., Brookes, L., Clare, F., Courtois, E. A., . . . Fisher, M. C. (2018). Recent Asian origin of chytrid fungi causing global amphibian declines. *Science*, *360*, 621-627. 10.3354/dao03160
- 56. Olsen, D. H., & Ronnenberg, K. L. (2014). Global Bd mapping project: 2014 update. *Froglog, 111*, 17-21.
- 57. Peignier, M., Bégué, L., Gieseke, A., Petri, D., Ringler, M., & Ringler, E. (2022). Mate choice in a promiscuous poison frog. *Ethology*, *128*(10-11), 693-703. 10.1111/eth.13331
- 58. Penn, D. J., Damjanovich, K., & Potts, W. K. (2002). MHC heterozygosity confers a selective advantage against multiple-strain infections. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *99*(17), 11260-11264. 10.1073/pnas.162006499
- Penner, J., Adum, G. B., McElroy, M. T., Doherty-Bone, T., Hirschfeld, M., Sandberger, L., Weldon, C., Cunningham, A. A., Ohst, T., Wombwell, E., Portik, D. M., Reid, D., Hillers, A., Ofori-Boateng, C., Oduro, W., Plötner, J., Ohler, A., Leaché, A. D., & Rödel, M. (2013). West Africa - A safe haven for frogs? A sub-continental assessment of the chytrid fungus (*Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*). *PLoS ONE*, 8(2), e56236. 10.1371/journal.pone.0056236
- 60. Pessier, A. P., Nichols, D. K., Longcore, J. E., & Fuller, M. S. (1999). Cutaneous chytridiomycosis in poison dart frogs (*Dendrobates spp.*) and White's tree frogs (*Litoria caerulea*). *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, *11*(2), 194-199. 10.1177/104063879901100219
- Prado, J. S., Ernetti, J. R., Pontes, M. R., & Toledo, L. F. (2023). Chytrid in the clouds: an alternative passive transport of a lethal pathogen for amphibians. *Hydrobiologia*, 850(9), 2061-2073. 10.1007/s10750-023-05218-2
- 62. R Core Team. (2023). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- 63. Reinhold, J. M., Halbert, E., Roark, M., Smith, S. N., Stroh, K. M., Siler, C. D., Mcleod, D. S., & Lahondère, C. (2023). The role of *Culex territans* mosquitoes in the transmission of

Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis to amphibian hosts. *Parasites & Vectors, 16*(1), 424. 10.1186/s13071-023-05992-x

- 64. Rodriguez, D., Becker, C. G., Pupin, N. C., Haddad, C. F. B., & Zamudio, K. R. (2014). Long-term endemism of two highly divergent lineages of the amphibian-killing fungus in the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. *Molecular Ecology, 23*(4), 774-787. 10.1111/mec.12615
- 65. Rohr, J. R., Raffel, T. R., Romansic, J. M., McCallum, H., & Hudson, P. J. (2008). Evaluating the links between climate, disease spread, and amphibian declines. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences PNAS*, *105*(45), 17436-17441. 10.1073/pnas.0806368105
- Rosenblum, E. B., Poorten, T. J., Settles, M., & Murdoch, G. K. (2012). Only skin deep: shared genetic response to the deadly chytrid fungus in susceptible frog species. *Molecular Ecology*, 21(13), 3110-3120. 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05481.x
- 67. Roy, B. A., & Kirchner, J. W. (2000). Evolutionary dynamics of pathogen resistance and tolerance. *Evolution*, *54*(1), 51-63. 10.1111/j.0014-3820.2000.tb00007.x
- Rush, E. R., Dale, E., & Aguirre, A. A. (2021). Illegal wildlife trade and emerging infectious diseases: Pervasive impacts to species, ecosystems and human health. *Animals (Basel), 11*(6), 1821. 10.3390/ani11061821
- Saare, L., Laasmaa, A., Anslan, S., Rannap, R., & Tedersoo, L. (2021). Surveying for Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis and B. salamandrivorans in wild and captive amphibian populations in Estonia and Latvia. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 145, 101-109. 10.3354/dao03599
- 70. Sabino-Pinto, J., Bletz, M. C., Iturriaga, M., Vences, M., & Rodríguez, A. (2017). Low infection prevalence of the amphibian chytrid fungus Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis (Chytridiomycetes: Rhizophydiales) Cuba. Amphibia-Reptilia, in 38(2), 243-249. 10.1163/15685381-00003100
- Savage, A. E., & Zamudio, K. R. (2016). Adaptive tolerance to pathogenic fungus drives major histocompatibility complex evolution in natural amphibian populations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B, Biological Sciences, 283*, 20153115. 10.1098/rspb.2015.3115
- Savage, A. E., & Zamudio, K. R. (2011). MHC genotypes associate with resistance to a frog-killing fungus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(40), 16705-16710. 10.1073/pnas.1106893108
- Scheele, B. C., Pasmans, F., Skerratt, L. F., Berger, L., Martel, A., Beukema, W., Acevedo, A. A., Burrowes, P. A., Carvalho, T., Catenazzi, A., De La Riva, I., Fisher, M. C., Flechas, S. V., Foster, C. N., Frías-Álvarez, P., Garner, T. W. J., Gratwicke, B., Guayasamin, J. M., Hirschfeld, M., . . . Canessa, S. (2019). Amphibian fungal panzootic causes catastrophic and ongoing loss of biodiversity. *Science*, *363*(6434), 1459-1463. 10.1126/science.aav0379
- 74. Schneider, C. A., Rasband, W. S., & Eliceiri, K. W. (2012). NIH image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature Methods*, 9(7), 671-675. 10.1038/nmeth.2089
- Scott Fites, J., Ramsey, J. P., Holden, W. M., Collier, S. P., Sutherland, D. M., Reinert, L. K., Sophia Gayek, A., Dermody, T. S., Aune, T. M., Oswald-Richter, K., & Rollins-Smith, L. A. (2013). The invasive chytrid fungus of amphibians paralyzes lymphocyte responses. *Science*, 342(6156), 366-369. 10.1039/c5sc02214b
- 76. Sheldon, B. C., & Verhulst, S. (1996). Ecological immunology: costly parasite defences and trade-offs in evolutionary ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Colution*, 11(8), 317-321. 10.1016/0169-5347(96)10039-2
- 77. Skerratt, L. F., Berger, L., Speare, R., Cashins, S., McDonald, K. R., Phillott, A. D., Hines, H. B., & Kenyon, N. (2007). Spread of chytridiomycosis has caused the rapid global decline and extinction of frogs. *EcoHealth*, 4(2), 125-134. 10.1007/s10393-007-0093-5
- Standish, I., Leis, E., Schmitz, N., Credico, J., Erickson, S., Bailey, J., Kerby, J., Phillips, K., & Lewis, T. (2018). Optimizing, validating, and field testing a multiplex qPCR for the detection of amphibian pathogens. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *129*(1), 1-13. 10.3354/dao03230

- 79. Stear, M. J., Innocent, G. T., & Buitkamp, J. (2005). The evolution and maintenance of polymorphism in the major histocompatibility complex. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, *108*(1), 53-57. 10.1016/j.vetimm.2005.07.005
- 80. Summers, K. (1992). Mating strategies in two species of dart-poison frogs: A comparative study. *Animal Behaviour, 43*(6), 907-919. 10.1016/S0003-3472(06)80004-7
- Summers, K., Symula, R., Clough, M., & Cronin, T. (1999). Visual mate choice in poison frogs. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B, Biological Sciences, 266*(1434), 2141-2145. 10.1098/rspb.1999.0900
- 82. Swift, L., Hunter, P. R., Lees, A. C., & Bell, D. J. (2007). Wildlife trade and the emergence of infectious diseases. *EcoHealth*, *4*(1), 25-30. 10.1007/s10393-006-0076-y
- Talley, B. L., Muletz, C. R., Vredenburg, V. T., Fleischer, R. C., & Lips, K. R. (2015). A century of Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis in Illinois amphibians (1888–1989). Biological Conservation, 182, 254-261. 10.1016/j.biocon.2014.12.007
- 84. Thomas, E. O., Tsang, L., & Licht, P. (1993). Comparative histochemistry of the sexually dimorphic skin glands of anuran amphibians. *American Society of Ichtyologists and Herpetologists*, 1993(1), 133-143.
- Tompkins, D. M., Carver, S., Jones, M. E., Krkošek, M., & Skerratt, L. F. (2015). Emerging infectious diseases of wildlife: A critical perspective. *Trends in Parasitology*, *31*(4), 149-159. 10.1016/j.pt.2015.01.007
- 86. Viney, M. E., Riley, E. M., & Buchanan, K. L. (2005). Optimal immune responses: Immunocompetence revisited. *Trends in Ecology & Colution, 20*(12), 665-669. 10.1016/j.tree.2005.10.003
- 87. Voyles, J., Young, S., Berger, L., Campbell, C., Voyles, W. F., Dinudom, A., Cook, D., Webb, R., Alford, R. A., Skerrat, L. F., & Speare, R. (2009). Parthenogenesis of chytridiomycosis, a cause of catastrophic amphibian declines. *Science*, *326*, 582-585. 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2009.02058.x
- Voyles, J., Woodhams, D. C., Saenz, V., Byrne, A. Q., Perez, R., Rios-Sotelo, G., Ryan, M. J., Bletz, M. C., Sobell, F. A., Mcletchie, S., Reinert, L., Rosenblum, E. B., Rollins-Smith, L. A., Ibáñez, R., Ray, J. M., Griffith, E. J., Ross, H., & Richards-Zawacki, C. L. (2018). Shifts in disease dynamics in a tropical amphibian assemblage are not due to pathogen attenuation. *Science*, *359*, 1517-1519. 10.1126/science.aao4806
- 89. Walke, J. B., & Belden, L. K. (2016). Harnessing the microbiome to prevent fungal infections: Lessons from amphibians. *PLoS Pathogens*, *12*(9), e1005796. 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005796
- Walker, S. F., Bosch, J., James, T. Y., Litvintseva, A. P., Valls, J. A. O., Piña, S., García, G., Rosa, G. A., Cunningham, A. A., Hole, S., Griffiths, R., & Fisher, M. C. (2008). Invasive pathogens threaten species recovery programs. *Current Biology*, *18*(18), 853-854. 10.1371/journal.pbio.0060072
- 91. Weldon, C., du Preez, L. H., Hyatt, A. D., Muller, R., & Speare, R. (2004). Origin of the amphibian chytrid fungus. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *10*(12), 2100-2105. 10.3201/eid1012.030804
- 92. Wells, K. D., & Bard, K. M. (1988). Parental behavior of an aquatic-breeding tropical frog, *Leptodactylus bolivianus. Journal of Herpetology, 22*(3), 361-364. 10.2307/1564166
- 93. Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer-Verlag New York.
- Willaert, B., Bossuyt, F., Janssenswillen, S., Adriaens, D., Baggerman, G., Matthijs, S., Pauwels, E., Proost, P., Raepsaet, A., Schoofs, L., Stegen, G., Treer, D., Van Hoorebeke, L., Vandebergh, W., & Van Bocxlaer, I. (2013). Frog nuptial pads secrete mating season-specific proteins related to salamander pheromones. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 216(22), 4139-4143. 10.1242/jeb.086363
- 95. Williams, G. (1966). Adaptation and natural selection: A critique of some current evolutionary thoughts. Princeton University Press.
- 96. Wilson, M. E. (1995). Travel and the emergence of infectious diseases. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 1(2), 39-46. 10.3201/eid0102.950201
- Wombwell, E. L., Garner, T. W. J., & Cunningham, A. A. (2016). Detection of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* in amphibians imported into the UK for the pet trade. *EcoHealth*, *13*, 456-466. 10.1007/s10393-016-1138-4

98. Woodhams, D. C., Brandt, H., Baumgartner, S., Kielgast, J., Küpfer, E., Tobler, U., Davis, L. R., Schmidt, B. R., Bel, C., Hodel, S., Knight, R., & McKenzie, V. (2014). Interacting symbionts and immunity in the amphibian skin mucosome predict disease risk and probiotic effectiveness. *PloS One*, 9(4), e96375. 10.1371/journal.pone.0096375

Support information



SI 1. An impression of the amphibian exposition at STRI Punta Culebra Nature Center

SI 2. *Bd* qPCR results. A value of 0.0 indicates a negative result (*i.e.*, no Bd infection detected). Values above 1.0 indicate a positive result and thus, detection of infection. During the male infection (MI) and female infection (FI) treatment, skin swabs were taken at three time points (day 1, day 3, and day 5). Individuals were regarded as infected when at least one of three provided a positive result. Unfortunately, an issue seemed to have arisen in the Bd extraction for the swabs of the FI1 infection treatment as many were found to be negative. In those instances, the result from the duplicate swab analyzed by STRI was included in the table (orange). From their independent analysis, STRI confirmed all individuals were infected when they were supposed to be and were uninfected after receiving curing treatment.

Frog ID	start	treated	MI1.1	MI1.2	MI1.3	T1	FI1.1	FI1.2	FI1.3	T2	FI2.1	FI2.2	FI2.3	Т3
F1	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	27.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	26.9	14.4	1.4	0.0
F2	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	1.8	1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	4.5	2.7	0.0
F3	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	44.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	97.6	1.5	4.2	0.0
F4	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	23.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	20.0	5.6	20.2	0.0
F5	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	23.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	11.1	0.0	0.0
F6	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	14.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.1	0.0	3.4	0.0
F7	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	8.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.9	1.9	0.0	0.0
F8	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	11.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.6	0.0
F9	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	-	-	-	0.0
M1	0.0	0.0	14.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.0
M2	0.0	0.0	23.2	11.8	4.7	0.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.0
M3	0.0	0.0	39.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.0
M4	0.0	0.0	4.9	0.0	1.4	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	-	-	-	0.0
M5	0.0	0.0	56.0	3.2	14.8	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	-	-	-	0.0
M6	0.0	0.0	61.3	2.7	1.2	0.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.0
M7	0.0	0.0	27.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.0
M8	0.0	0.0	23.0	5.2	1.8	0.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.0
M9	0.0	0.0	25.0	0.0	4.2	0.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.0
M10	0.0	0.0	36.0	3.6	2.2	0.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.0
M11	0.0	0.0	-	-	-	0.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.0



SI 3. The proportion of time spent in the choice area of the enclosure by the females over the three different treatments. For each treatment, a box is included with (red) and without (yellow) escaping behavior included.



Strength of female mate preference

SI 4. The proportion of time that females spent with its preferred male from the total time spent choosing between the males. For each treatment, a box is included with (red) and without (yellow) escaping behavior included.